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Plaintiffs Brian Andacky (“Andacky”) and Melissa Baggett (“Baggett”) (collectively, 

“Plaintiffs”), by and through their attorneys, bring this action on behalf of themselves and all 

others similarly situated against The Blue Buffalo Company, Ltd. (“Blue Buffalo” or 

“Defendant”).  Plaintiffs make the following allegations based upon information and belief, 

except as to allegations specifically pertaining to themselves, which are based on personal 

knowledge.  

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This is a class action lawsuit related to Defendant’s false and misleading labeling 

and marketing of its cat and dog food products in the:  (a) “Life Protection” line,
1
 (b) 

“Wilderness” line,
2
 (c) “Freedom” line,

3
 and (d) “Basics” line

4
 (collectively, the “Mislabeled Pet 

Foods”).  With tens of millions of dollars spent on advertising and marketing campaigns, 

Defendant has built a brand targeted at ingredient-conscious cat and dog owners.  At the very 

core of Defendant’s advertising and marketing is its “TRUE BLUE PROMISE,” which promises 

consumers that the Mislabeled Pet Foods contain “NO Chicken or Poultry By-Product Meals,” 

“NO Corn, Wheat or Soy,” and “NO Artificial Preservatives, Colors or Flavors” (together with 

the misrepresentations discussed below, the “Misrepresentations”).  In reality, however, 

Defendant’s “TRUE BLUE PROMISE” is false and misleading.  Indeed, scientific testing 

reveals that, contrary to the “TRUE BLUE PROMISE,” the Mislabeled Pet Foods do, in fact, 

contain significant amounts of chicken/poultry by-product meal.  That’s not all.  The scientific 

testing also reveals that the Mislabeled Pet Foods also contain corn, rice, grains, and/or artificial 

preservatives.  In short, the Mislabeled Pet Foods fail to live up to Defendant’s “TRUE BLUE 

PROMISE.”   

                                                 
1
 The “Life Protection” line includes all cat and dog varieties of the Life Protection Formula 

Chicken & Brown Rice Recipe. 
2
 The “Wilderness” line includes all cat and dog varieties of the BLUE Wilderness Chicken 

Recipe. 
3
 The “Freedom” line includes all cat and dog varieties of the BLUE Freedom Grain-Free 

Chicken Recipe. 
4
 The “Basics” line includes all cat and dog varieties of the Basics Grain-Free Turkey and Potato 

Recipe. 
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2. Importantly, Defendant claims that its Mislabeled Pet Foods provide “superior 

nutrition” and health benefits compared to other brands of pet food precisely because the 

Mislabeled Pet Foods use “the finest natural ingredients” and do not contain ingredients such as 

chicken/poultry by-product meals, corn, rice, and preservatives.  Indeed, Defendant represents 

that its Mislabeled Pet Foods are made with “only the finest natural ingredients” and are free 

from “less than desirable” ingredients such as chicken/poultry by-product meals, corn, and 

preservatives “which can trigger allergic reactions.”  But these claims are knowingly false and 

misleading.  As a result, Defendant has intentionally deceived consumers to associate its 

Mislabeled Pet Foods with “ultra-premium healthy” pet foods.  Even worse, Defendant uses its 

Misrepresentations to extract a substantial price premium from consumers.  For example, 

Defendant’s Life Protection Formula Chicken & Brown Rice Recipe for adult dogs commands 

nearly a 56% price premium, per pound, over a competing product.  And Defendant’s 

Wilderness Chicken Adult Dry Dog Food commands a 94% premium, per pound: 

 

Brand Quantity Price Unit Price 

Blue Buffalo “Life Protection Formula Chicken 

& Brown Rice Recipe” Dog Food 

30 lbs. $59.99 $2.00 per lb. 

Blue Buffalo “Wilderness Chicken Adult Dry 

Dog Food” 

24 lbs. $59.99 $2.50 per lb. 

Purina “ONE Smartblend Chicken & Rice 

Formula Dog Food” 

31.1 lbs. $39.99 $1.29 per lb. 

 

3. However, as a result of Defendant’s Misrepresentations, the Mislabeled Pet Foods 

are not worth the substantial price premium they command.  Indeed, as Defendant itself 

acknowledges, “[p]oultry or chicken by-product meals cost a lot less than meals made from 

whole meat.”  Since scientific testing reveals the presence of chicken/poultry by-products in the 

Mislabeled Pet Foods, consumers are not receiving the value for which they paid a substantial 
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price premium, namely, pet food made from superior ingredients to the exclusion of 

chicken/poultry by-product meals, corn, rice, and/or artificial preservatives.   

4. Each of Defendant’s Misrepresentations is false and misleading because the 

Mislabeled Pet Foods do, in fact, contain the exact inferior ingredients that Defendant claims on 

its product labeling that it “never use[s].”  And Defendant’s deception is intentional by nature 

because a manufacturer and seller of pet food does not unwittingly mislabel the ingredients and 

contents of its products – especially when the Misrepresentations relate to the very core of the 

brand and the marketing message. 

5. Plaintiffs are purchasers of Defendant’s Mislabeled Pet Foods and assert claims 

on behalf of themselves and similarly situated purchasers of the Mislabeled Pet Foods for 

violation of New York General Business Law § 349, violation of New York General Business 

Law § 350, unjust enrichment, and fraud.  

PARTIES 

6. Plaintiff Andacky is a pet-owning consumer who is a citizen of New York, 

residing in Hempstead, New York.  In 2012, Plaintiff Andacky purchased Defendant’s 

Mislabeled Pet Foods – a 24-pound bag of the BLUE Wilderness Chicken Recipe for Adult Dogs 

for approximately $60 and a 12-pound bag of the BLUE Wilderness Chicken Recipe for Adult 

Cats for approximately $40 – from Pet Supplies Plus in Hempstead, New York.  Plaintiff 

Andacky purchased the bags of Mislabeled Pet Food for his pet dog and pet cat, respectively.  

Prior to his purchases of the Mislabeled Pet Foods, Plaintiff Andacky saw Defendant’s television 

advertisements and reviewed the Mislabeled Pet Foods’ packaging and labeling claims, including 

the ingredients and the “TRUE BLUE PROMISE” which promised that the Mislabeled Pet 

Foods contained “NO Chicken or Poultry By-Product Meals,” “NO Corn, Wheat or Soy,” and 

“NO Artificial Preservatives, Colors or Flavors.”  The front packaging labels also represented 

that the Mislabeled Pet Foods he purchased contained “NO” (a) “chicken or poultry by-product 

meals,” (b) “corn, wheat or soy,” and (c) “artificial flavors.”  The front labels also represented 

that the Mislabeled Pet Foods were “100% GRAIN FREE.”  Plaintiff Andacky saw these false 

representations prior to and at the time of purchase, and understood them as material 
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representations and claims that the Mislabeled Pet Foods he purchased did not contain any 

“Chicken or Poultry By-Product Meals,” “Grain,” “Corn, Wheat or Soy,” and/or “Artificial 

Preservatives, Colors or Flavors.”  As a result, Plaintiff Andacky understood that the Mislabeled 

Pet Foods would provide superior nutrition and health benefits to his pets compared to other 

brands of pet food that contained these ingredients.  He relied on these false representations in 

deciding to purchase the Mislabeled Pet Foods at a premium price.  Accordingly, these 

representations were part of the basis of the bargain, in that he would not have purchased the 

Mislabeled Pet Foods at a premium price had he known that the Mislabeled Pet Foods contained 

chicken/poultry by-product meals, corn, rice, grain, and/or artificial preservatives.
5
  Indeed, had 

he known, he would have instead purchased less expensive pet food products or another brand of 

pet food products that actually did not contain chicken/poultry by-products meals, grain, corn, 

rice, and/or artificial preservatives.  In reliance on these representations, he paid a tangible 

increased cost for the Mislabeled Pet Foods, which were worth less than represented because the 

Mislabeled Pet Foods did, in fact, contain chicken/poultry by-product meals, corn, rice, and/or 

artificial preservatives – the very ingredients that Defendant expressly promised and represented 

they did not.   

7. Plaintiff Baggett is a pet-owning consumer who is a citizen of New York, residing 

in Brooklyn, New York.  In 2013, Plaintiff Baggett purchased Defendant’s Mislabeled Pet Food 

– a 30-pound bag of the Life Protection Formula Chicken & Brown Rice Recipe dog food – at a 

Petco store in Brooklyn, New York for approximately $60.  Subsequently in 2013, she purchased 

additional 30-pound bags of the Life Protection Formula Chicken & Brown Rice Recipe 

Mislabeled Pet Food from www.chewy.com, an online retailer, for approximately $53 per bag.  

Plaintiff Baggett purchased the bags of Mislabeled Pet Foods for her pet dog.  Prior to her 

purchases of the Mislabeled Pet Foods, Plaintiff Baggett saw Defendant’s television 

                                                 
5
 For example, scientific tests were performed on two samples each of Defendant’s Wilderness 

Adult Chicken Recipe Dog Food and Wilderness Adult Chicken Recipe Cat Food.  The results 
showed that the LifeSource Bits in the tested dog food samples contained 9% and 11% 
chicken/poultry by-product meal and 3% and 1% corn or rice, respectively.  The results also 
showed that the LifeSource Bits in the tested cat food samples contained 8% and 5% 
chicken/poultry by-product meal and 2.2% and 2.5% corn or rice, respectively.  
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advertisements and reviewed the Mislabeled Pet Foods’ packaging and labeling claims, including 

the ingredients and the “TRUE BLUE PROMISE” which promised that the Mislabeled Pet 

Foods contained “NO Chicken or Poultry By-Product Meals,” “NO Corn, Wheat or Soy,” and 

“NO Artificial Preservatives, Colors or Flavors.”  The front package labels also represented that 

the Mislabeled Pet Foods she purchased contained “No chicken or poultry by-product meals  

No corn, wheat or soy  No artificial flavors.”  The back labels also represented that Defendant 

“never use[s] any chicken or poultry by-product meals, and [their] recipes have no corn, wheat or 

soy, which can trigger allergic reactions.”  Plaintiff Baggett saw these false representations prior 

to and at the time of purchase, and understood them as material representations and claims that 

the Mislabeled Pet Foods she purchased did not contain any “Chicken or Poultry By-Product 

Meals,” “Corn, Wheat or Soy,” and/or “Artificial Preservatives, Colors or Flavors.”  As a result, 

Plaintiff Baggett understood that the Mislabeled Pet Foods would provide superior nutrition and 

health benefits to her pet compared to other brands of pet food that contained these ingredients.  

She relied on these representations in deciding to purchase the Mislabeled Pet Foods at a 

premium price.  Accordingly, these representations were part of the basis of the bargain, in that 

she would not have purchased the Mislabeled Pet Foods at a premium price had she known that 

the Mislabeled Pet Foods contained chicken/poultry by-product meals, corn, rice, and/or artificial 

preservatives.
6
  Indeed, had she known, she would have instead purchased a less expensive dog 

food or another brand of dog food that actually did not contain chicken/poultry by-products 

meals, grain, corn, rice, and/or artificial preservatives.  In reliance on these representations, she 

paid a tangible increased cost for the Mislabeled Pet Foods, which was worth less than 

represented because the Mislabeled Pet Foods did, in fact, contain chicken/poultry by-product 

meals, corn, rice, and/or artificial preservatives – the very ingredients that Defendant expressly 

promised and represented it did not.   

                                                 
6
 For example, a scientific test was performed on Defendant’s Life Protection Formula Chicken 

& Brown Rice Recipe dog food.  The result of that test showed that the kibble in the dog food 
contained 22% chicken/poultry by-product meal.   
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8. Defendant Blue Buffalo Company, Ltd., is a Delaware corporation with its 

corporate headquarters in Wilton, Connecticut  06897.  Blue Buffalo is in the business of 

manufacturing, marketing, and selling pet food, pet treats, and related products nationwide.  Last 

year alone, Defendant generated nearly $600 million in revenue, mostly from the sale of its 

Mislabeled Pet Foods.
7
 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d) 

because there are more than 100 class members and the aggregate amount in controversy exceeds 

$5,000,000.00, exclusive of interest, fees, and costs, and at least one Class member is a citizen of 

a state different from Defendant.   

10.  Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because 

Defendant does business throughout this District, Plaintiffs purchased the Mislabeled Pet Foods 

in this District, and Plaintiffs reside in this District.   

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

11. Defendant’s promotional strategy for its Mislabeled Pet Foods centers around its 

false ingredient claims and related promises, namely that its Mislabeled Pet Foods provide 

superior nutrition and health benefits because they do not contain any chicken/poultry by-product 

meals, corn, rice, and/or artificial preservatives.  Indeed, the value of Defendant’s brand is built 

on such claims.  False and misleading nutritional and ingredient claims pervade Defendant’s 

website, the packaging of its Mislabeled Pet Foods, its print ads, its television ads, and other like 

advertising materials.  Defendant’s Misrepresentations are omnipresent and stated clearly and 

conspicuously to unwitting consumers.  As a consequence of and in reliance on these false and 

misleading claims, consumers are willing to pay and have paid a substantial price premium for 

Defendant’s Mislabeled Pet Foods. 

12. Defendant’s false and misleading advertising statements have wide consumer 

reach.  For example, Defendant spent over $50 million on advertising in 2013 – and is poised to 

                                                 
7
 See http://www.reuters.com/article/2014/03/12/us-bluebuffalo-ipo-idUSBREA2B14L20140312  
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do so again in 2014 – comprised of a wide array of national print, television, and Internet ads.  

These advertisements include statements that are materially false and misleading, and were made 

with the intent to deceive consumers into purchasing Defendant’s Mislabeled Pet Foods.  

Consumers (including Plaintiffs) have relied on these false and misleading statements in making 

their decision to purchase Defendant’s Mislabeled Pet Foods.  

The “TRUE BLUE PROMISE” 

13. At the very core of Defendant’s false and misleading labeling, advertising, and 

marketing is the “TRUE BLUE PROMISE,” which unequivocally represents that the Mislabeled 

Pet Foods not only use “Only the Finest Natural Ingredients,” but that they also contain “NO 

Chicken or Poultry By-Product Meals,” “NO Corn, Wheat or Soy,” and “NO Artificial 

Preservatives, Colors, or Flavors:” 

14. The “TRUE BLUE PROMISE” is on every package of every Mislabeled Pet 

Food currently sold by Defendant.  For example, the Life Protection Formula Chicken & Brown 

Rice Recipe for Adult Dogs centrally displays the “TRUE BLUE PROMISE”: 
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So does the Life Protection Formula Chicken & Brown Rice Recipe for Indoor Adult Cats: 

15. As shown by the packaging of the Life Protection Formula Chicken & Brown 

Rice Recipe for Adult Dogs, the false and misleading message of the “TRUE BLUE PROMISE” 

is underscored on the front label of every Mislabeled Pet Food which states “No chicken or 

poultry by-product meals  No corn, wheat or soy  No artificial flavors”: 
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The packaging of the Life Protection Formula Chicken & Brown Rice Recipe for Indoor Adult 

Cats is substantially similar: 

16. Unsurprisingly, the false and misleading message of the “TRUE BLUE 

PROMISE” is also reiterated on the back label of every Mislabeled Pet Food.  For example, the 

back label of the Life Protection Formula Chicken & Brown Rice Recipe for Adult Dogs 

provides, “We never use any chicken or poultry by-product meals, and our recipes have no corn, 

wheat or soy, which can trigger allergic reactions”: 

Similarly, the back label of the Life Protection Formula Chicken & Brown Rice Recipe for 

Indoor Adult Cats provides “we never use chicken or poultry by-product meals or anything 

artificial”: 
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17. The labeling of the Mislabeled Pet Foods, as well as Defendant’s other 

advertisements, directs consumers to Defendant’s website for additional information.  

Additionally, Defendant further includes a “QR Code” on the labeling of each Mislabeled Pet 

Food that directs consumers directly to Defendant’s webpage for that specific variety of 

Mislabeled Pet Food: 

For example, the “QR Code” on the labeling of the Indoor Health Chicken & Brown Rice Recipe 

for Indoor Adult Cats links directly to Defendant’s webpage for that specific product.
8
  

18. In addition to the Mislabeled Pet Foods’ labels, the “TRUE BLUE PROMISE” is 

also found on Defendant’s webpages for each individual Mislabeled Pet Food, as shown by the 

product page for Life Protection Formula Chicken & Brown Rice Recipe for Indoor Adult Cats:
9
  

                                                 
8
 http://www.bluebuffalo.com/cat-food/bc-indoor-health-

chicken?utm_source=packaging&utm_medium=qr&utm_campaign=bfc-adult-indoor-heatlh-
chicken (last visited May 7, 2014). 
9
 http://bluebuffalo.com/cat-food/bc-indoor-health-chicken?pf=1&type=dry&animal=cat (last 

visited May 7, 2014). 
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19. The “TRUE BLUE PROMISE” is also found on other parts of Defendant’s 

website.  For example, it is found on the “Why Choose BLUE” page:
10

 

20. Defendant further reinforces the message of the “TRUE BLUE PROMISE” with 

detailed explanations and “Q&A” segments on its website.  For example, Defendant’s “Nutrition 

Philosophy” page explains that, “At Blue Buffalo we [do not] use by-products.  Poultry or 

chicken by-product meal costs a lot less than meals made from whole meat.  At Blue Buffalo we 

think the cost is well worth it to know exactly what’s in our food.”  It also states that corn, wheat, 

or soy proteins “are less complete and lower quality sources of protein and are common allergens 

in pets ….  Simply put, these ingredients are cheaper, lower in nutrition, and things we would 

never include in a Blue recipe.”  Finally, it represents that “Preservatives … provide no 

                                                 
10

 http://bluebuffalo.com/best-dog-food (last visited May 7, 2014). 
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nutritional value and have been associated with possible side effects.  Some pet food brands 

resort to artificial colors and flavors in an attempt to make food look and taste better.  We 

don’t.”:
11

 

 

                                                 
11

 http://bluebuffalo.com/nutrition (last visited May 7, 2014). 
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Likewise, the “FAQ” page of Defendant’s website provides:
12

 

 

21. The “TRUE BLUE PROMISE” and its related messages are, in fact, false and 

misleading because Defendant’s Mislabeled Pet Foods actually contain chicken/poultry by-

product meals, corn, rice, and/or artificial preservatives in direct contrast to Defendant’s core 

promises and representations.  First, Defendant’s promise that the Mislabeled Pet Foods contain 

“NO chicken/poultry by-product meals” are false because scientific tests reveal that Mislabeled 

Pet Foods actually contain significant – not merely trace – amounts of chicken/poultry by-

product meals.  In fact, upon information and belief, this testing revealed that in some of the 

Mislabeled Pet Foods, chicken/poultry by-product meals were actually the most prevalent 

ingredient, comprising upwards of 20% of those products by weight.  Second, Defendant’s 

promise that the Mislabeled Pet Foods contain “NO Corn, Wheat or Soy” is also false because 

the same tests reveal the presence of significant amounts of rice and/or corn in the Mislabeled 

                                                 
12

 http://www.bluebuffalo.com/health/faq (last visited May 7, 2014). 
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Pet Foods.  Finally, Defendant’s promise that the Mislabeled Pet Foods contain “NO Artificial 

Preservatives, Colors or Flavors” is also false because the Mislabeled Pet Foods use 

chicken/poultry by-product meals that include artificial preservatives that are not present in 

chicken/poultry meal.  In short, Defendant has broken every aspect of its “TRUE BLUE 

PROMISE” to consumers.   

22. As a result of Defendant’s broken promises, the Mislabeled Pet Foods are not 

worth the substantial price premium they command.  Indeed, as Defendant itself acknowledges, 

“[p]oultry or chicken by-product meals cost a lot less than meals made from whole meat.”  Since 

scientific testing reveals the presence of chicken/poultry by-products in the Mislabeled Pet 

Foods, consumers are not receiving the value that they paid a substantial price premium for, 

namely, pet food made exclusively from whole meat and the finest natural ingredients, not by-

products.   

“Superior Nutrition” 

23. Defendant also makes statements that consumers should “Choose BLUE” because 

the Mislabeled Pet Foods purportedly provide pets with “superior nutrition” compared to other 

brands.  These “superior nutrition” claims are misleading because they are premised on 

Defendant’s assertions that its Mislabeled Pet Foods do not contain certain ingredients such as 

chicken/poultry by-product meals, corn, wheat, and/or artificial preservatives. 
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24. Defendant’s “superior nutrition” claims are false and misleading because 

scientific tests reveal that the Mislabeled Pet Foods, in fact, contain chicken/poultry by-product 

meals, corn, rice, and/or artificial preservatives. 

Comparative Advertising 

25. Defendant also utilizes advertising that features comparisons between its 

Mislabeled Pet Foods and other brands.  This comparative advertising represents and conveys to 

consumers that the Mislabeled Pet Foods contain superior ingredients and that Defendant is 

honest about the ingredients it uses.  Defendant even offers to give consumers information about 
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“How [] some brands categorize certain ingredients to make their food appear healthier,” thereby 

falsely implying that Defendant is honest and does not engage in such tactics.
13

   

26. Defendant has aired, and continues to air, nationally-televised commercials 

featuring pet owners who alleged “switch to Blue Buffalo” after learning the “truth about big 

name dog foods.”  For example, one of Defendant’s commercials states verbatim:
14

 

 
When pet parents learn about big name dog foods, they switch to 
Blue Buffalo.  All Blue Life Protection foods are made with real 
meat first, plus wholesome grains, veggies, and fruit. 
 
I didn’t know how my dog’s big name food stacked up, so I went 
to Blue’s website, and I took the True Blue Test.  It was clear.  
Blue had everything I wanted and none of the stuff I didn’t want. 
 
Only Blue has LifeSource Bits.  A precise blend of beneficial 
nutrients.  And now we’ve enhanced LifeSource Bits with 
powerful antioxidant rich ingredients, including pomegranate, 
pumpkin, spinach, apples, blackberries, blueberries and 
cranberries.  We call it our Super 7 package.  When you love them 
like family, you want to feed them like family.  That’s why I feed 
him Blue.  With Super 7 LifeSource Bits, Blue is better than ever.  
Take the TrueBlue Test today, and see how your dog’s food 
compares to Blue. 
 

                                                 
13

 http://bluebuffalo.com/best-dog-food (last visited May 7, 2014). 
14

 http://www.bluebuffalo.com/tv-commercials (emphasis added) (last visited May 7, 2014). 
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27. Defendant even employs salespeople who dress similarly to pet store employees 

and approach consumers in pet store parking lots to inform consumers of the quality of 

Defendant’s Mislabeled Pet Foods as compared to competitive products.  These salespeople 

parrot the falsehood that the Mislabeled Pet Foods do not contain any chicken/poultry by-product 

meals and that Defendant honors its “TRUE BLUE PROMISE.” 

28. To help misleadingly differentiate itself from other pet foods, Defendant offers 

the “True Blue Test” on its website.
15

  The “True Blue Test” allows consumers to compare the 

alleged ingredient contents of the Mislabeled Pet Foods with those of other leading brands.  

Among other claims, the “True Blue Test” falsely advocates that the Mislabeled Pet Foods 

“NEVER Ha[ve] Chicken (or Poultry) By-Product Meals” and identifies competing brands that, 

according to Defendant, do.  These statements are materially false and misleading because 

Defendant’s Mislabeled Pet Foods, as tested, contain chicken/poultry by-product meals in 

significant amounts.  Further, the Mislabeled Pet Foods also contain corn and artificial 

                                                 
15

 http://www.bluebuffalo.com/dog-food-comparison/test-results (last visited May 7, 2014). 
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preservatives despite the express representation that the Mislabeled Pet Foods “NEVER” contain 

these ingredients. 

 

29. Consumers of pet food and related products are becoming increasingly ingredient-

conscious and are more selective and demanding than ever about the types of foods that they 

feed their pets.  Indeed, consumers rely on ingredient claims and related statements about 

nutritional value and food quality when deciding which brand of pet food to feed their pets.  

Many consumers purchase – and a pay a substantial premium for – Defendant’s Mislabeled Pet 

Foods over other brands because of the false and misleading nutritional statements and promises 

made by Defendant, including, for example, statements that the Mislabeled Pet Foods (i) do not 

contain chicken/poultry by-product meals, and (ii) contain “none” of the ingredients that 

ingredient-conscious consumers would not want.  However, as already discussed, the Mislabeled 

Pet Foods do, in fact, contain chicken/poultry by-product meals and other ingredients that 

Defendant itself advocates ingredient-conscious consumers do not want. 
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LifeSource Bits 

30. Defendant’s Mislabeled Pet Foods also contain so-called “LifeSource Bits.”  

According to Defendant, these are “vitamins, mineral and antioxidants” that are “cold-formed” 

into pieces of kibble.  The labeling of the Mislabeled Pet Foods represents these LifeSource Bits 

offer a number of special health benefits for pets and further invites consumers to learn more on 

Defendant’s website: 
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31. The webpage referenced on the Mislabeled Pet Foods’ labels provides even more 

detail:
16

 

32. In reality, however, Defendant’s LifeSource Bits do not contain enough nutrients 

to effectively deliver the claimed health benefits.  Moreover, contrary to the “TRUE BLUE 

PROMISE,” scientific testing reveals that the LifeSource Bits found in the Mislabeled Pet Foods 

also contain chicken/poultry by-product meals and corn.  Similarly, these tests also show that the 

LifeSource Bits found in the “grain free” Mislabeled Pet Foods contain rice hulls.
17

 

                                                 
16

 http://www.bluebuffalo.com/health/lifesource-bits (last visited May 7, 2014). 
17

 For example, scientific tests were performed on two samples each of Defendant’s Wilderness 
Adult Chicken Recipe Dog Food and Wilderness Adult Chicken Recipe Cat Food.  The results 
showed that the LifeSource Bits in the tested dog food samples contained 3% and 1% corn or 
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33. Defendant also continues its practice of falsely implying that its LifeSource Bits 

are nutritionally superior to the vitamins, minerals, antioxidants, and other ingredients found in 

other, less expensive, brands.  For example, Defendant includes the LifeSource Bits on its “True 

Blue Test” results pages as one of the qualities that purportedly makes the Mislabeled Pet Foods 

superior to other brands while failing to acknowledge that other brands may and/or do contain 

similar ingredients.
18

  

                                                                                                                                                             
rice, respectively.  The results also showed that the LifeSource Bits in the two Wilderness cat 
food samples contained 2.2% and 2.5% rice or corn, respectively.  Also tested were two samples 
each of Defendant’s Freedom Adult Grain Free Chicken Recipe dog food and Freedom Adult 
Grain Free Chicken Recipe cat food.  The results showed that the LifeSource Bits in the two 
samples of the Freedom dog food contained 3% and 1% corn or rice, respectively.  The results 
also showed that the LifeSource Bits in the two samples of the Freedom cat food contained 2% 
and 2% corn or rice, respectively. 
18

 http://bluebuffalo.com/dog-food-comparison/test-results (last visited May 7, 2014). 
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34. In reality, however, the low level of nutrients in Defendant’s LifeSource Bits is 

insufficient to render them superior to less expensive competing brands. 

35. Similarly, Defendant makes false and misleading statements that its LifeSource 

Bits contain certain levels of vitamins, minerals, and nutrients to provide specific health benefits 

such as a “healthy skin and coat” and “healthy bones and tissues,” when, in fact, Defendant’s 

LifeSource Bits do not contain the requisite levels of vitamins, minerals, or nutrients to provide 

those health benefits.  Defendant also advertises that certain vitamins, minerals, and nutrients 

purportedly found in its LifeSource Bits provide health benefits for which there is no scientific 

evidence.
19

 

36. Many other advertising claims made by Defendant with respect to the LifeSource 

Bits in the Mislabeled Pet Foods are false and misleading.  For example, Defendant claims that 

the LifeSource Bits contain taurine for “health eyes and heat.”  The LifeSource Bits, however, 

contain little or no taurine.  Likewise, Defendant touts vitamin d in the LifeSource Bits “for 

healthy bones and tissue” when in reality the LifeSource Bits contain less vitamin d than the 

kibble component of the Mislabeled Pet Foods.  Similarly, Defendant cites l-carnitine in the 

LifeSource Bits “for endurance and fat metabolism.”  Here too, there is little or no l-carnitine in 

the LifeSource Bits.  In short, Defendant has falsely advertised its LifeSource Bits as having 

many qualities and benefits that they simply do not have. 

 

 

                                                 
19

 http://www.bluebuffalo.com/health/lifesource-bits (last visited May 7, 2014). 
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“Natural Ingredients” / “NO Artificial Preservatives” 

37. Defendant has made, and is currently making, statements and “promises” to 

consumers that the Mislabeled Pet Foods contain “Only the Finest Natural Ingredients” and have 

“NO Artificial Preservatives.”   

38. These statements and promises are repeated throughout Defendant’s websites, its 

national television commercials, its Mislabeled Pet Foods' labels, and other advertising materials.   

39. Defendant’s statements and promises that the Mislabeled Pet Foods contain “Only 

the Finest Natural Ingredients” and have “NO Artificial Preservatives” are false and misleading 

because, among other things, the Mislabeled Pet Foods contain chicken/poultry by-product meals 

that include artificial preservatives that are not present in chicken/poultry meal. 

“Grain-Free” 

40. Grain-free pet foods are desired by consumers who believe that dogs and cats 

should be fed as carnivores.  Defendant attempts to capitalize on these consumers by not only 
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representing that all of its Mislabeled Pet Foods contain “no corn, wheat or soy,” but by also 

representing that certain of its Mislabeled Pet Foods – specifically the “Wilderness” and 

“Freedom” lines, as well as part of the “Basics” line – are “grain free.”   
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41. However, Defendant’s representations that its Mislabeled Pet Foods are “grain-

free” and contain “no corn, wheat or soy” are false and misleading because, as testing reveals, 

these products do, in fact, contain these ingredients.  Specifically, the scientific tests found grains 

(rice hulls and/or ground corn) in the LifeSource Bits that are found in each of the “grain-free” 

product lines.  In fact, these grains were found in concentrations of up to 3% by weight. 

42. By falsely advertising its Mislabeled Pet Foods as “grain-free” when the products 

in fact contain grains, Defendant is misleading and deceiving consumers who seek to purchase 

grain free products. 
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“Human-Grade” Pet Food 

43. Defendant also makes statements that its products are human-grade and fit for 

human consumption.  As shown above, see supra ¶¶ 15-16, Defendant uses the slogan “Love 

them like family.  Feed them like family.” to convey this message to consumers.  

44. However, these statements are also false and misleading because the Mislabeled 

Pet Foods contain ingredients such as chicken/poultry by-product meals that are not human 

grade. 

CLASS REPRESENTATION ALLEGATIONS 

45. Plaintiffs seek to represent a class defined as all persons in the United States who 

purchased Blue Buffalo Mislabeled Pet Foods (the “Class”).  Excluded from the Class are 

persons who made such purchase for purpose of resale.   

46. Plaintiffs also seek to represent a subclass of all Class members who purchased 

Blue Buffalo Mislabeled Pet Foods in the state of New York (the “New York Subclass”). 

47. Members of the Class and Subclass are so numerous that their individual joinder 

herein is impracticable.  On information and belief, members of the Class and Subclass number 

in the millions.  The precise number of Class and Subclass members and their identities are 

unknown to Plaintiffs at this time but may be determined through discovery.  Among other 

things, Class and Subclass members may be notified of the pendency of this action by mail,       

e-mail, and/or publication through the distribution records of Defendant and third party retailers 

and vendors. 

48. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all Class members and predominate 

over questions affecting only individual Class members.  Common legal and factual questions 

include, but are not limited to whether Defendant’s labeling, advertising, and marketing of the 

Mislabeled Pet Foods is false and misleading as complained of herein.  

49. The claims of the named Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of the Class in that the 

named Plaintiffs were exposed to Defendant’s false and misleading advertising and marketing 

materials, including the Misrepresentations, purchased Mislabeled Pet Foods, and suffered a loss 

as a result of those purchases. 
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50. Plaintiffs are adequate representatives of the Class and Subclass because their 

interests do not conflict with the interests of the Class and Subclass members they seek to 

represent, they have retained competent counsel experienced in prosecuting class actions, and 

they intend to prosecute this action vigorously.  The interests of Class and Subclass members 

will be fairly and adequately protected by Plaintiffs and their counsel. 

51. The class mechanism is superior to other available means for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of the claims of Class members.  Each individual Class member may lack the 

resources to undergo the burden and expense of individual prosecution of the complex and 

extensive litigation necessary to establish Defendant’s liability.  Individualized litigation 

increases the delay and expense to all parties and multiplies the burden on the judicial system 

presented by the complex legal and factual issues of this case.  Individualized litigation also 

presents a potential for inconsistent or contradictory judgments.  In contrast, the class action 

device presents far fewer management difficulties and provides the benefits of single 

adjudication, economy of scale, and comprehensive supervision by a single court on the issue of 

Defendant’s liability.  Class treatment of the liability issues will ensure that all claims and 

claimants are before this Court for consistent adjudication of the liability issues. 

COUNT I 

(Deceptive Acts Or Practices, New York Gen. Bus. Law § 349) 

52. Plaintiffs repeat the allegations in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein. 

53. Plaintiffs bring this Count I individually and on behalf of the members of the New 

York Subclass against Defendant. 

54. By the acts and conduct alleged herein, Defendant committed unfair or deceptive 

acts and practices by making the Misrepresentations. 

55. The foregoing deceptive acts and practices were directed at consumers. 

56. The foregoing deceptive acts and practices are misleading in a material way 

because they fundamentally misrepresent the characteristics, ingredients, and benefits of the 

Mislabeled Pet Foods to induce consumers to purchase same. 
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57. Plaintiffs and members of the New York Subclass were injured because:  (a) they 

would not have purchased the Mislabeled Pet Foods had they known that the products in fact 

contained chicken/poultry by-product meals, corn, rice, and/or artificial preservatives; (b) they 

paid a price premium for the Mislabeled Pet Foods based on Defendant’s false and misleading 

statements; and (c) the Mislabeled Pet Foods did not have the characteristics and benefits 

promised because they contained chicken/poultry by-product meals, corn, rice, and/or artificial 

preservatives.  As a result, Plaintiffs and the New York Subclass have been damaged in the 

amount of the difference in value between the Mislabeled Pet Foods as advertised and the 

Mislabeled Pet Foods as actually sold. 

58. On behalf of themselves and other members of the New York Subclass, Plaintiffs 

seek to enjoin the unlawful acts and practices described herein, to recover their actual damages 

or fifty dollars, whichever is greater, three times actual damages, and reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

COUNT II 

(False Advertising, New York Gen. Bus. Law § 350) 

59. Plaintiffs repeat the allegations in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein. 

60. Plaintiffs bring this Count II individually and on behalf of the members of the 

New York Subclass against Defendant. 

61. Based on the foregoing, Defendant has engaged in consumer-oriented conduct 

that is deceptive or misleading in a material way which constitutes false advertising in violation 

of Section 350 of the New York General Business Law. 

62. Defendant’s false, misleading and deceptive statements and representations of 

fact, including but not limited to the Misrepresentations, were and are directed to consumers. 

63. Defendant’s false, misleading and deceptive statements and representations of 

fact, including but not limited to the Misrepresentations, were and are likely to mislead a 

reasonable consumer acting reasonably under the circumstances. 
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64. Defendant’s false, misleading and deceptive statements and representations of 

fact, including but not limited to the Misrepresentations, have resulted in consumer injury or 

harm to the public interest. 

65. Plaintiffs and members of the New York Subclass have been injured because: (a) 

they would not have purchased the Mislabeled Pet Foods had they known that the products in 

fact contained chicken/poultry by-product meals, corn, rice, and/or artificial preservatives; (b) 

they paid a price premium for the Mislabeled Pet Foods based on Defendant’s false and 

misleading statements; and (c) the Mislabeled Pet Foods did not have the characteristics and 

benefits promised because they contained chicken/poultry by-product meals, corn, rice, and/or 

artificial preservatives.  As a result, Plaintiffs and the New York Subclass have been damaged in 

the amount of the difference in value between the Mislabeled Pet Foods as advertised and the 

Mislabeled Pet Foods as actually sold. 

66. As a result of Defendant’s false, misleading and deceptive statements and 

representations of fact, including but not limited to the Misrepresentations, Plaintiffs have 

suffered and continue to suffer economic injury. 

67. Plaintiffs and members of the New York Subclass suffered an ascertainable loss 

caused by Defendant’s Misrepresentations because they paid more for the Mislabeled Pet Foods 

than they would have had they known the truth about the product. 

68. On behalf of themselves and other members of the Class and New York Subclass, 

Plaintiffs seek to enjoin the unlawful acts and practices described herein, to recover their actual 

damages or five hundred dollars, whichever is greater, three times actual damages, and 

reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

COUNT III 

(Unjust Enrichment) 

69. Plaintiffs repeat the allegations of the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein. 

70. Plaintiffs bring this Count III individually and on behalf of members of the Class 

and Subclass against Defendant. 

Case 2:14-cv-02938   Document 1   Filed 05/08/14   Page 30 of 33 PageID #: 30



30 
 

71. Plaintiffs and members of the Class and Subclass conferred benefits on Defendant 

by purchasing the Mislabeled Pet Foods at a premium price. 

72. Defendant has knowledge of such benefits.  

73. Defendant has been unjustly enriched in retaining the revenues derived from 

Plaintiffs’ and Class and Subclass members’ purchases of the Mislabeled Pet Foods.  Retention 

of those moneys under these circumstances is unjust and inequitable because Defendant falsely 

and misleadingly represented that its Mislabeled Pet Foods contained no chicken/poultry by-

product meals, corn, rice, and/or artificial preservatives when, in fact, the Mislabeled Pet Foods 

contained one or more of these ingredients, which caused injuries to Plaintiffs and members of 

the Class and Subclass because they would not have purchased (or paid a price premium) for the 

Mislabeled Pet Foods had the true facts been known.  

74. Because Defendant’s retention of the non-gratuitous benefits conferred on it by 

Plaintiffs and members of the Class and Subclass is unjust and inequitable, Defendant must pay 

restitution to Plaintiffs and members of the Class and Subclass for their unjust enrichment, as 

ordered by the Court. 

COUNT IV 

(Fraud) 

75. Plaintiffs repeat the allegations of the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein. 

76. Plaintiffs bring this Count IV individually and on behalf of members of the Class 

and Subclass against Defendant.   

77. As discussed above, Defendant made false and misleading representations, 

including the Misrepresentations, and failed to disclose that the Mislabeled Pet Foods contain 

chicken/poultry by-product meals, corn, rice, and/or artificial preservatives.  Defendant had a 

duty to disclose this information. 

78. The false and misleading representations and omissions were made with 

knowledge of their falsehood. 
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79. The false and misleading representations and omissions were made by Defendant, 

upon which Plaintiffs and members of the Class and Subclass members reasonably and 

justifiably relied, and were intended to induce and actually induced Plaintiffs and Class and 

Subclass members to purchase the Mislabeled Pet Foods. 

80. The fraudulent actions of Defendant caused damage to Plaintiffs and members of 

the Class and Subclass, who are entitled to damages and other legal and equitable relief as a 

result. 

RELIEF DEMANDED 

81. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, individually and on behalf of all others similarly 

situated, seek a judgment against Defendant, as follows: 

a. For an order certifying the nationwide Class and the New York Subclass 

under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and naming 

Plaintiffs as representatives of the Class and Subclass and Plaintiffs’ 

attorneys as Class Counsel to represent the Class and Subclass members;  
 
b. For an order declaring that Defendant’s conduct violates the statutes 

referenced herein;  
 
c. For an order finding in favor of Plaintiffs, the nationwide Class, and the 

New York Subclass on all counts asserted herein; 
 

d. For compensatory, statutory, and punitive damages in amounts to be 

determined by the Court and/or jury; 
 

e. For prejudgment interest on all amounts awarded; 
 
f. For an order of restitution and all other forms of equitable monetary relief;  
 
g. For injunctive relief as pleaded or as the Court may deem proper; and 

 

h. For an order awarding Plaintiffs and the Class and Subclass their 

reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses and costs of suit. 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury on all claims so triable. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

BURSOR & FISHER, P.A. 

Scott A. Bursor (SB1141) 
Joseph I. Marchese (JM1976) 
Neal J. Deckant (ND1984) 
Yitzchak Kopel (YK5522) 
888 Seventh Avenue 
New York, NY 10019 
Tel: (646) 837-7150 
Fax: (212) 989-9163 
E-Mail: scott@bursor.com 

jmarchese@bursor.com 
ndeckant@bursor .com 
ykopel@bursor.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

DOUGLAS C. PALMER
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Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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